Questions and Answers under RFP-DHHS-ORDC-V&B-05-04
(For Questions and Answers 1 to 60 and 63 to 68, see RFP Amendment 0002 and Responses to Questions posted on www.Fedbizopps.gov on May 23, 2005.)
The following are questions received and the DHHS answers regarding the above referenced RFP.  Additional questions and answers may be posted at a later date.
61.  In the RFP, the Significance and Objectives section on page 6 states “Portions of the vaccine product development plan may be conducted outside of the U.S. except clinical trials, which will be used to support a BLA product submission. “  Since the FDA allows data generated overseas to be admissible for U.S. product approval if in compliance with GCP regulations, please clarify why clinical trials held outside the U.S. would not contribute to a BLA product submission.  Please also confirm that non-U.S. trials may be budgeted in an application in response to this RFP.


Ans.  RFP Amendment 0002 revised the section to say “Portions of the vaccine product development plan may be conducted outside of the U.S. except pivotal clinical studies, which will be used to support a BLA product submission.”  This means that a vaccine product development plan may include foreign sites provided that pivotal clinical trials are conducted in the U.S. and are accepted by the FDA. All clinical sites should be included in new or existing INDs submitted to the FDA for cell- or recombinant-based influenza vaccine products.  Non-U.S. trials may be budgeted in an application in response to this RFP provided they contribute to a BLA product submission.
62.   In the RFP, under Statement of Work, Milestone 1 on page 6, it is stated that “Within 

Six (6) months of contract award, the Contractor shall provide to the USG a master product development plan for a seasonal trivalent influenza vaccine and a pandemic monovalent influenza vaccine produced in tissue culture cells, recombinant expression systems, or synthesized as influenza viruses, recombinant proteins, or recombinant DNA at a cGMP-compliant manufacturing facility with proper biosafety containment (BSL-2+), using intellectual property to which the company has unencumbered access relative to cell culture or recombinant technology.”

However, under Statement of Work, Milestone 3 on page 7, it is stated that “The Contractor’s

ability to meet WHO biosafety guidelines for avian influenza vaccine manufacturing (Biosafety 

Level (BSL) 2+ or greater) may be necessary for handling and testing highly pathogenic avian 

influenza viruses, if these viruses are used to generate pandemic influenza vaccines.”

As there is a significant difference in building a BL-2+ facility vs. a facility operating at greater

than BL-2+, please clarify what type of bio-containment level is required. 


Ans.  Virus seed production, upstream processing, downstream processing, and QC test labs may require BSL-2+ or BSL-3 containment depending on the virus strain and reassortant characteristics.  Containment levels should be commensurate with prescribed CDC, USDA, or WHO biosafety guidelines for influenza vaccine manufacturing and handling of live virus samples.
69. When you say 150 million doses per year, do you mean a twelve month manufacturing period or a typical annual flu season period?

Ans.  Yes, a 12-month manufacturing period is anticipated.  
70. The answer to question 22 in the previous set of questions refers to 15μg HA.  What is a DNA dose?  What is the DNA equivalent of 150 million doses?

Ans.  All offerors must show equivalency to a standard microgram dose of influenza vaccine.  It is the responsibility of the offeror to identify what the DNA equivalent is for 150 million doses.  
71. Do the two doses per person apply to DNA vaccines?

Ans.  All offerors must demonstrate the appropriate dosage for protection against influenza.  
72. RFP states a 5mb limit for the technical appendix (500 pages).  How strictly will this be enforced?  

Ans.  The 5mb limit has been removed.  Please see Amendment 0002.

73. Human subjects and animal welfare are new sections for this RFP.  Are these sections to be included in the technical proposal or otherwise?  


Ans. Human subjects and animal sections should be included in the technical proposal or in the appendix.  If included in the appendix, the technical proposal should indicate where the human subjects and animal sections are located.
74. Request that offerors be permitted to utilize a non-counting “”Inside Cover Page” that provides all of the information requested for subcontractor and consultants per pages 31 and 48 of the solicitation.  

Ans. All pages shall count toward the maximum page limit established in the RFP and clarified in Amendment 0002.
75. Can you clarify again that this RFP is for “Pandemic” Cell and Recombinant Vaccine and not for trivalent epidemic vaccine?

Ans.  As stated in the milestones described in the Statement of Work (pages 6 and 7 of the RFP), the RFP requires plans for developing and manufacturing both seasonal trivalent influenza vaccine and pandemic monovalent influenza vaccine. 
76. Will any preference (added scoring weight) be given to offeror that control own manufacturing facility (s) over those that opt for CMO strategies or will this be gauged within the context of experience and timeline issues?


Ans.  No preference will be given to any offeror who controls its own facilities over an offeror that opts for CMO strategies.  DHHS will evaluate and score all proposals based upon the quality of the facilities proposed.
77. Section M.1. “General” speaks of the need to provide documentation demonstrating unencumbered access to IP.  What type of documentation is required or expected, and when must it be supplied, as part of Mandatory Criteria for Eligibility?


Ans. Please see Amendment 0002.

78. Where in the RFP would USG funded facility costs be included?  Does not appear to be a specific “deliverable” where this can be summarized and submitted; would assume it goes under the “the commitment to build” commentary?

Ans.  As stated in the “Background” section of the RFP: “It is not the intent of the United States Government (USG) to support the actual building of a manufacturing facility or purchasing an existing facility.”   Therefore, the costs of building or buying a manufacturing facility should NOT be included in an offeror’s cost proposal as a direct cost except that the offeror’s cost proposal may include depreciation costs in accordance with FAR 31.205-11.
79. Does the clinical requirement for pandemic stop at phase I/II?  Or are there further requirements intended?

Ans.  No, the requirement will continue through final licensure of the product.
80. If you are doing a cell culture based pandemic program with NIH in parallel with this RFP, do you want it referenced and/or the protocol included?

Ans.  Yes, any cell culture-based pandemic program conducted in parallel with the RFP should be referenced and/or the protocol included.
81. Regarding milestone 2 and the “comprehensive product development protocol”, is the mandatory criterion one protocol in one of the areas suggested, or depending on the offeror’s phase of development?  Areas suggested per the milestone are vaccine manufacturing, pre-clinical studies, and clinical studies.

Ans.  The product development protocol is intended to be comprehensive.  In Milestone 2, the phrase “as appropriate based on current stage of development” modifies the phrase “initiate vaccine development, vaccine manufacturing, pre-clinical studies, or clinical studies” and recognizes, for example, that some offerors may have already initiated vaccine development.  The offeror should provide a comprehensive plan for clinical manufacturing and testing, regulatory pathway, and clinical protocols.
82. What is the lower age limit or down to which age group does the Govt. expect the pandemic vaccine to be studied in clinical trials in this proposal?

Ans.  Twenty-three months of age is the lower limit group acceptable by the Government.
83. Clinical trial cost – should we use government costs or commercial costs (e.g., Vaccine and Treatment Evaluation Units (VTEU’s) charge less to NIAID than to commercial entities).  How do you get these costs?

Ans.  If the offeror plans to subcontract the clinical trials to a VTEU (http://www.niaid.nih.gov/factsheets/vteu.htm) or other contract research organization (CRO) subcontractor, the offeror must include the estimated costs in the cost proposal.  The Government will consider the reasonableness of the costs during evaluation and will only reimburse costs that are allowable under the cost principles, e.g., FAR Subparts 31.2 and 31.3.
84. If during the awarded contract period, the scope of the project requires longer than the initial contract period for unanticipated reasons, is the government willing to extend the contract duration period as long as the contractor requests no change in either net funding level or scope of project?


Ans.  If at the conclusion of the period performance, completion of the “contractor defined milestones” requires additional time at no additional expense to the government, the Contracting Officer will evaluate the circumstances and determine if it is in the best interest of the Government to extend the contract period of performance.  
85. The RFP states that  “Activities that can be supported by this solicitation shall include product related equipment, facility design, and validation of equipment, systems, facilities, product release assays, and manufacturing process for U.S. based manufacturing facilities” (Page 6 paragraph 1)

a. Does this support apply to both pilot and commercial scale facilities?

Ans.  Yes.

b. If equipment paid for by support of this RFP is titled to and has to be returned to the government at the end of 3-5 years, how does the RFP really support funding of the product related equipment for commercial scale production?  


Ans.  Please refer to the Government Furnished Property Clause FAR 52.245-5.  In accordance with this provision, the Contracting Officer will make the determination at the conclusion of contract performance. 

c. Most commercial scale plants will take 3-4 years to build, equip, fully validate, and come on line to produce cGMP conformance lots needed for product licensure. It is most likely that construction of a commercial plant would begin only after proof of principle and confirmatory clinical data has been received.  Does this RFP or the USG intend or have provisions to provide:

i. Extended contracting beyond 3-5 years?

Ans.   Please see answer 84.
ii. Continued use of the equipment (lease, buy back, etc) after the 3-5 year contract period? 

Ans. Please see answer 85.b.
86. If cGMP product is made outside the U.S. for pivotal trials, can a company file for licensure using non-U.S. manufactured product as long as the U.S. plant commitment is in progress and a bridging study has been included in the agreement?  This would allow a company to possibly recover some plant construction costs prior licensure of the U.S. manufactured product, provide improved supply of flu vaccine for the U.S. market, and still ensure a company’s obligation to provide U.S. manufacturing capacity is maintained.


Ans.  Yes, non-U.S. manufactured product may be used for the pivotal trials as long as the final product is manufactured within the U.S.
87. We are still having some difficulty understanding the required approach to subcontractors. The response to Q&A #18 points to Section J. When I try to follow the thread, I am directed to Section L.24 to FAR 52.215-20 to FAR 15.408 Table 2 (attached), which seems to require a great level of detail and specifics. 

Several of us recall you saying that subcontractor bids do not have to be included, but Section I.C of the table states ‘you must submit with your proposal any information reasonably required to explain your estimating process’. Is that not a formal bid or at least derived from one? Would an estimate suffice with further detail provided during negotiations or the early milestones? Section II.A.1 requires adequate price competition – is this the source of the typical effort to obtain two or three bids for each subcontract? I do note that subcontracts over $10M are required to include the bid (Section II.A.2). How do equipment estimates differ?
Can some outside relationships be treated as fee for service organizations instead of subcontractors?  Does this depend on the monetary threshold?  

Ans.  Prime contractor and subcontractor costs contained in an Offeror’s cost proposal must include the level of detail as stated in the Instructions on Page 37 and as outlined in Breakdown of Estimated Cost spreadsheet that was uploaded as part of Amendment 0002.  If the cost detail is not based on data from prospective subcontractors, then the offeror should use its best efforts to estimate of the cost details for the subcontract.   The level of cost detail in the proposal affects the extent to which the DHHS Contracting Officer can determine the offeror’s proposed costs to be fair and reasonable.  All estimated costs proposed at the time of proposal submission should reflect to the greatest extent possible an accurate and realistic estimate of the costs that will be incurred under the contract.


Under Section II.A, paragraph 1 pertains to subcontracts for which the offeror obtained adequate price competition, e.g., where the offeror obtained two or three competitive bids.  Under paragraph 2, for subcontracts that are more than the lesser of $9,999,999 or 10 percent of the offeror’s total estimated proposed cost plus fixed fee (but not subcontracts that are less $550,000), if the prospective subcontractor has provided cost and pricing data to the offeror, the offeror must submit with its cost proposal the prospective subcontractor’s cost and pricing data along with the offeror’s cost analysis of the data.  If the prospective subcontractor has not provided cost and pricing data, then the offeror should use its best efforts to estimate of the cost details for the subcontract.

Paragraphs 1 and 2 also apply to equipment estimates.  All costs are treated as either incurred by the offeror (including intra-divisional transfers) or by a subcontractor.  An outside relationship with a “fee-for-service organization” is treated as a subcontract regardless of dollar amount.  
88. Regarding Q&A #29 of the document issued by HHS on 5/23/05 (Q&As posted with RFP Amendment 0002), please clarify the extent to which Offerors should describe the clinical development for a specific pandemic-like vaccine.  Is HHS assuming that a pandemic-like vaccine would be approved via the annual strain change procedure?

Ans.  It is possible that the licensure of a pandemic vaccine can occur,  However, if the rapid onset of a pandemic flu would preclude the licensure process it is likely the vaccine would be used under an Emergency Use Authorization (EUA).
89. A “Breakdown of Proposed Estimated Cost” is shown on page 38 of the RFP.  The Offeror is instructed to use the breakdown shown in this example for each milestone in the Statement of Work, including any proposed Offeror milestones.  The example includes a column to summarize costs for “Meetings and Conferences”.  Please confirm that budgeting Meetings and Conferences separately from all other milestones is required.

Ans. The RFP at the bottom of page 7 has a paragraph on Meetings and Conferences that follows the Statement of Work.  The “Breakdown of Proposed Estimated Cost” on page 38 of the RFP has a column to accommodate the costs of the meetings and conferences described in that paragraph of the RFP.  Offerors may use that column to budget for meetings and conferences that the offeror does not include in other columns of the Breakdown.
90. On page 6 of the RFP, it is stated that one of the activities supported by the solicitation is “validation of equipment, systems, facilities, product release assays, and manufacturing processes for U.S.-based influenza vaccine manufacturing facilities that manufacture bulk and final container cell- or recombinant vaccine products.”  Since Offeror’s are not permitted to include fill/finish equipment in their equipment budgets, please clarify whether or not validation of “final container” would include validation of fill/finish equipment.  Also, please clarify whether or not validation of any equipment which Offerors are not permitted to budget would be supported under this solicitation.

Ans.  Yes, validation of fill container equipment and/or any other product or related equipment will be required.  The Offeror’s cost proposal should identify any costs needed to conduct validation.  However, the costs of the fill finish equipment are only fundable under this RFP as depreciation costs or as part of the fill finish company’s indirect costs.
91. On page 3 of the RFP, “Estimated Cost and Fixed Fee” and “Cancellation Ceiling” are addressed under sections B.2 and B.3 respectively.  Please confirm that offerors are not required to complete and submit these sections as part of their application.

Ans.  Yes, offerors are not required to complete and submit these sections as part of their submission.  
92.  We are wondering whether we can include a study design that looks at dose escalation of one of the potential pandemic strains or whether you recommend we stick to the 15 ug dose?


Ans.  The study design for a pandemic influenza vaccine would be a dose escalation study, as the dose affording protective immunity will not be known.
a.  Also, previously it was specifically not allowed to include a clinical study design that would include use of Alum.  Is this correct?


Ans.  Proposals for influenza vaccines with an adjuvant should be submitted in response to RFP ORDC-05-08, antigen sparing influenza vaccine, when it is released later.
93.  The costing approach that we would like to take for the clinical studies is to use an existing field study as a reference to determine a cost per subject and then add in the analytical costs.


Ans.  Yes, this is a reasonable estimating approach as long as the offeror considers any differences between the studies.  

94.  Can efficacy studies for cell-based influenza vaccines be conducted post-licensure? 
 

Ans. Yes, provided the quality of the immunogenicity clinical data and other dossier documents warrant licensure.  
